

Annex A

TITLE 25. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Part I DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Subpart C. PROTECTION OF NATURAL RESOURCES

Part II. STATE BOARD FOR CERTIFICATION OF SEWAGE TREATMENT PLANT AND WATERWORKS OPERATORS

CHAPTER 301. [Reserved]

§§ 301.1—301.3. (Reserved).

§§ 301.11—301.13. (Reserved).

CHAPTER 302. ADMINISTRATION OF THE WATER AND WASTEWATER SYSTEMS OPERATORS' CERTIFICATION PROGRAM

CHAPTER 303. [Reserved]

§§ 303.1—303.3. (Reserved).

§§ 303.11—303.14. (Reserved).

§§ 303.21—303.28. (Reserved)

§§ 303.31—303.34. (Reserved).

CHAPTER 305. [Reserved]

§§ 305.1—305.7. (Reserved).

(Editor's Note: As part of this proposal, the Environmental Quality Board is proposing to rescind the existing text of Chapters 301, 303 and 305, which currently appears in 25 Pa Code pages 301-1 – 301-4, 303-1 – 303-11, and 305-1 – 305-3, serial pages (228347) to (228350), (252853), (252854), (281973), (281974), and (252857) – (252867). The following text is for a new Chapter 302 and printed in regular type to enhance readability.)

**CHAPTER 302. ADMINISTRATION OF THE WATER AND WASTEWATER SYSTEMS
OPERATORS' CERTIFICATION PROGRAM**

Subch.

- A. GENERAL PROVISIONS
- B. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR APPLICATIONS FOR CERTIFICATION ACTIONS
- C. BOARD PROCEDURES AND ACTIONS
- D. CRIMINAL HISTORY RECORDS
- E. ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS OF THE BOARD
- F. PREPARATION AND ADMINISTRATION OF CERTIFICATION EXAMINATIONS
- G. EDUCATION, EXAMINATION AND EXPERIENCE REQUIREMENTS
- H. CONTINUING EDUCATION AND TRAINING
- I. SYSTEM CLASSIFICATION AND SUBCLASSIFICATIONS
- J. OPERATOR CLASSES AND SUBCLASSIFICATIONS
- K. PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS
- L. SYSTEM OPERATION

Subchapter A. GENERAL PROVISIONS

Sec.

302.101. Definitions.

302.102. Purpose.

302.103. Scope.

302.104. CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS.

§ 302.101. Definitions.

The following words and terms, when used in this chapter, have the following meanings, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:

Accelerated certification – A method of upgrading a system's available operators' certificates to accommodate a change in the system's capacity or treatment technology.

Act - The Water and Wastewater Systems Operators' Certification Act, (63 P.S. §§1001 – 1015.1).

Activated carbon adsorption – A water treatment process designed to improve the quality of water being treated by using activated granular or powdered carbon to remove specific organic chemical compounds by adsorption.

Activated sludge – The treatment technology that mechanically introduces air into wastewater to achieve microbiological suspended growth treatment such as extended aeration, sequential batch reactors, contact stabilization, conventional, step fed or oxidation ditch.

~~[Administrative Code – The Administrative Code of 1929 (71 P. S. §§51 – 732).]~~

Administrative hearing – A meeting of the Board, or Board-designated agent, held upon petition of the Department to revoke, suspend, modify or reinstate an operator’s certificate in accordance with 2 Pa. C.S. Chapter 5 Subchapter A **~~[and Chapter 7 Subchapter A]~~** (relating to Administrative Agency Law).

Aeration – A water treatment process designed to improve the quality of water being treated by introducing air or oxygen into water to remove undesirable dissolved gases, to remove volatile organic compounds or to oxidize inorganic compounds so they can be removed as particulates.

Applicant – A person seeking certification as a water or wastewater system operator.

Application for certification action – A written request for the Board to take a certification action using approved Department forms.

Available operator – A certified operator who is onsite or able to be contacted as needed to make process control decisions in a timely manner to protect public health and the environment.

Bioperable operator – A certified operator who holds a valid certificate for both water and wastewater systems.

Bioperable training – Department-approved continuing education training that has content that is applicable to both water and wastewater systems.

Board – The State Board for Certification of Water and Wastewater Systems Operators.

Board-designated agent – A Board **MEMBER, CERTIFICATION PROGRAM ADVISORY [committee] COMMITTEE** member **OR DEPARTMENT STAFF PERSON** who completes certain duties on behalf of the Board.

Board guidelines – The guidelines established to carry out the powers and duties of the Board. **~~[These guidelines are documented in the State Board for Certification of Water and Wastewater Systems Operator’s Guidelines, “Operator Certification Program,” DEP ID: 150-0200-002.]~~**

Board Secretary – A Department **[recommended]** staff member **[who acts on behalf of the ELECTED BY THE Board to implement administrative aspects of the DRINKING WATER AND WASTEWATER SYSTEM OPERATOR’S CERTIFICATION [program] PROGRAM.]**

CHR - Criminal History Record – A report of criminal history record issued by the Pennsylvania State Police under 18 Pa. C.S. Chapter 91 (relating to criminal history record information).

Cartridge or bag filtration – For drinking water, a process for the purpose of substantial particulate removal by straining with bag or cartridge filters manufactured of various materials and pore sizes.

Certificate program – [~~A type of Department-approved training.~~] **A DEPARTMENT-APPROVED CURRICULUM OR SERIES OF TRAINING COURSES LEADING TO A CERTIFICATE OR DIPLOMA IN WATER OR WASTEWATER.**

Certification – The process by which an individual obtains a water or wastewater system operator’s certificate.

Certification action – Action taken by the Board related to a certification examination or re-certification or the issuance of an initial certificate, certificate renewal or certificate through reciprocity.

Certification Program Advisory Committee – The advisory committee created under the act.

Certified operator – An operator who holds a valid certificate in accordance with the act.

Chemical addition – A water treatment process designed to improve the quality of the water being treated through the addition of chemicals such as lime, soda ash, caustic soda and permanganate.

Circuit rider – A management program in which a certified operator may make process control decisions at more than one system of different ownership.

Class – An alphabetic letter assigned by the Department to a water or wastewater system based upon the classification of a system or an alphabetic letter assigned to an individual’s certificate.

Classification – The size or type of a water or wastewater system.

Clean Streams Law – The Clean Streams Law (35 P. S. §§ 691.1 – 691.1001).

Collection system – A system of pipelines or conduits, pumping stations and force or gravity mains used for collecting and conveying wastes to a point of treatment and disposal.

Community water system – A public water system which serves at least 15 service connections used by year-round residents or regularly serves at least 25 year-round residents.

Consecutive system –

(i) A public water system that obtains all of its water from another public water system and resells the water to a person, provides treatment to meet a primary maximum contaminant level or provides drinking water to an interstate carrier.

(ii) The term does not include bottled water and bulk water systems as defined in § 109.1 (relating to definitions).

Contact hour – The standard unit of measure **ASSIGNED BY THE DEPARTMENT** for participation in a Department-approved **[education experience] TRAINING EVENT BASED ON THE AMOUNT OF INSTRUCTION TIME RECEIVED.**

Continuing education – Approved activities to include training, outreach programs, contact hours, meetings, presentations and other activities designed to increase the knowledge, skills and abilities of system operators.

Conventional filtration – For drinking water, a series of processes implemented for the purpose of substantial particulate removal consisting of coagulation, flocculation, sedimentation and filtration.

Corrosion control and sequestering – A water treatment process designed to mitigate the adverse effects of corrosion in drinking water.

DEPARTMENT – THE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION OF THE COMMONWEALTH.

Diatomaceous earth filtration – For drinking water, a process for the purpose of substantial particulate removal, in which a precoat cake of diatomaceous earth filter media is deposited on a support membrane (septum) and, while the water is filtered by passing through the cake on the septum, additional filter media, known as body feed, is continuously added to the feed water, to maintain the permeability of the filter cake.

Direct filtration – ~~(i)~~ For drinking water, a series of processes implemented for the purpose of substantial particulate removal consisting of coagulation and filtration. ~~(ii)~~ The term **normally** includes flocculation after coagulation, but does not include sedimentation.

Distribution system – Pipelines, appurtenances, devices and facilities that convey potable water under pressure to customers.

Drinking water environmental laboratory supervisor – An individual having the knowledge, skills and abilities necessary to supervise laboratory procedures and the reporting of analytical data for an environmental laboratory operated by a drinking water system in accordance with industry, State and Federal standards.

ENVIRONMENTAL HEARING BOARD – THE BOARD ESTABLISHED UNDER THE ENVIRONMENTAL HEARING BOARD ACT (35 P. S. § 7511 – 7516).

Environmental laboratory – A facility engaged in the testing or analysis of environmental samples.

ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY BOARD – THE BOARD ESTABLISHED UNDER SECTION 1920-A, THE ADMINISTRATIVE CODE (71 P. S. § 510 – 20).

Environmental sample – A solid, liquid, gas or other specimen taken for the purpose of testing or analysis as required by an environmental statute.

Environmental statute – A statute administered by the Department relating to the protection of the environment or protection of public health, safety and welfare.

Examination – A test module or grouping of test modules administered by the Board or its designated agent used in part to determine the competency of applicants for certification or recertification.

Fee – A nonrefundable [~~cost charged to an applicant assigned to~~] **CHARGE TO** cover the **APPLICABLE** expenses of the program.

Fixed film treatment – A wastewater treatment technology that uses a fixed contact media to achieve treatment such as trickling filters and rotating biological contactors.

Gaseous chlorine disinfection – A water treatment process designed to inactivate pathogenic organisms from water being treated utilizing gaseous chlorine.

GED – General equivalency diploma.

Grandparented – The temporary exemption for an existing operator of an existing system, as of February 21, 2002, from the initial educational and examination requirements for certification where a system was not required by prior law to have a certified operator. A grandparented operator may be the operator in responsible charge.

Groundwater – Water beneath the surface of the ground that exists in a zone of saturation.

Hydraulic design capacity – The maximum monthly design flow at which a drinking water or wastewater system is expected to consistently provide the required treatment or at which a distribution or collection system is expected to properly function without creating a backup, surcharge or overflow.

Industrial wastewater treatment system – Any system that treats industrial waste or pollution, but not sewage, as those terms are defined in section 1 of The Clean Streams Law (35 P.S. § 691.1).

Ion exchange and greensand – A water treatment process such as greensand filtration, ion exchange or activated alumina designed to improve the quality of water being treated by removal of inorganic constituents.

Investigation – A detailed inquiry as to the nature, circumstances and official records regarding an applicant or certified operator’s criminal conviction as identified in a criminal history record.

Master certificate – A certificate authorizing an operator to make process control decisions at any water or wastewater system of a specific size, regardless of the treatment technology subclassifications used by that system.

Membrane filtration – For drinking water, a process that uses a thin film that acts as a selective barrier (semipermeable) to the transport of matter to remove contaminants from water and includes such processes as electro dialysis, reverse osmosis, nanofiltration, ultrafiltration, microfiltration or other similar technologies.

NPDES – The National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System as authorized under section 402 of the Federal Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C.A. § 1342).

Nongaseous chemical disinfection – A water treatment process designed to inactivate pathogenic organisms from water being treated utilizing nongaseous chemical elements or compounds.

Noncommunity water system – A public water system which is not a community water system.

Nontransient noncommunity water system – A noncommunity water system that regularly serves at least 25 of the same persons over 6 months per year.

Operator –

(i) An individual who works with water or wastewater system processes or portions thereof.

(ii) The term includes, but is not limited to, an individual who may be gaining experience to obtain certification in appropriate sub-classifications within classifications of certification. These individuals will have a working knowledge of system operation.

Operator-in-responsible-charge – An individual designated by the owner to be the certified operator who makes the process control decisions that directly impact the quality and or quantity of water.

Operator-in-training – An applicant for certification who has passed the certification examination but does not meet the experience requirements.

Order of the Department - An order of the Department issued under section 4(b)(2) of the act (63 P.S. § 1004(b)(2)) and also include orders of the Department issued under section 4(b)(1.1) of the act.

Owner – A person who owns or is the holder of an applicable permit for the operation of a water or wastewater system.

Ozonation – The water treatment process designed to inactivate pathogenic organisms from water being treated utilizing ozone.

Permitted average daily discharge flow – [~~The hydraulic design capacity of a wastewater treatment system.~~] **THE PERMITTED ANNUAL AVERAGE DAILY DISCHARGE FLOW,**

AS STATED IN THE NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM (NPDES) OR WATER QUALITY MANAGEMENT (WQM) PERMIT.

Person –

(i) An individual, company, corporation, ~~[political subdivision,]~~ municipality, municipal authority, partnership, firm, association, trust, estate, public or private institution, or any agency of Federal or State government.

(ii) The term also includes the officers, directors, employees and agents of any partnership, firm, association, company, corporation, municipality, municipal authority, public or private institution or any agency of Federal or state government.

Petition – A written request from the Department to the Board to take an action to modify, suspend, revoke or reinstate a certified operator’s certificate.

Political subdivision – Any county, city, borough, town, township, school district, institution or any authority created by any one or more of the foregoing.

~~[Postpresentation credit]~~ **POST-PRESENTATION CREDIT – CONTACT HOURS FOR**
Preecertification] PRE-CERTIFICATION or continuing education credit for a training course not previously approved by the department. An operator may obtain post-presentation credit upon application to the department.

Process control decision – A decision that maintains or changes the water quality or quantity of a water system or wastewater system in a manner that may affect the public health or environment.

Process control plan – A plan developed by an operator in responsible charge that outlines the facilities, methods, activities and treatment alternatives necessary to meet permit requirements and provide long term and reliable system operations.

Professional engineer – An engineer registered under the Engineer, Land Surveyor and Geologist Registration Law (63 P. S. §§ 148 – 158.2), who has been examined in civil, sanitary or environmental engineering and determined proficient.

PROGRAMMABLE LOGIC CONTROLS (PLC) – A SMALL COMPUTER USED FOR AUTOMATED CONTROL OF MACHINERY USED FOR WATER AND WASTEWATER TREATMENT. THE PLC REPLACES THE MANY TIMERS, RELAYS AND OTHER DEVICES USED TO CONTROL START/STOP, RUN TIME AND LEVEL CONTROLS OF THIS MACHINERY.

Psychometrics – The analytical methodology and design of tests to evaluate and measure psychological variables such as intelligence and aptitude.

Recertification – The process by which an individual [~~s water or wastewater system operator certificate,~~] previously certified under the act, obtains a new certificate following expiration, suspension or revocation of the previous certificate.

Renewal of certification – The process by which an individual extends for another period of time an existing, valid water system or wastewater system operator’s certificate under the act.

Satellite collection system – A wastewater system **CONSISTING ONLY OF COLLECTION FACILITIES** with at least one pump station, which is designed to convey in excess of 2000 gallons per day of untreated wastewater to a wastewater system owned by a different entity.

Serving an average – The hydraulic design capacity of a water system.

Single entity collection system – A wastewater [**collection**] system [~~where the collection system relies on treatment,~~] **CONSISTING ONLY OF COLLECTION FACILITIES WITH AT LEAST ONE PUMP STATION WHICH IS DESIGNED TO CONVEY IN EXCESS OF 2000 GALLONS PER DAY OF UNTREATED WASTEWATER TO** a wastewater treatment system owned by the owner of the collection system.

Site-specific – A certificate to allow a grandparented operator to make process control decisions for an identified system or part thereof, which is not transferable and is not valid if treatment methods change or the grandparented operator no longer works at a system.

Slow sand filtration – For drinking water, a process for the purpose of substantial particulate removal by physical and biological mechanisms during the passage of raw water through a bed of sand at low velocity, generally less than 0.4 meter per hour.

Subclassification – A number assigned by the Department to a water or wastewater system based upon the treatment process used by that system or the number assigned to an operator’s certificate based upon meeting the certification requirements for a specific treatment process.

SUPERVISORY CONTROL AND DATA ACQUISITION SYSTEM (SCADA) – A SPECIALIZED COMPUTER SYSTEM DESIGNED TO MONITOR AND CONTROL MANY OF THE PROCESSES AND OPERATIONS FOR WATER AND WASTEWATER TREATMENT. A SCADA SYSTEM CONTROLS EQUIPMENT BASED ON PRE-DETERMINED CRITERIA, MONITORS THE STATUS OF TREATMENT PROCESSES AND EQUIPMENT AND INITIATES COMMANDS AUTOMATICALLY BASED ON CONDITIONS OR THRESHOLDS DEFINED BY THE AVAILABLE OPERATOR. THE AVAILABLE OPERATOR CAN ALSO INITIATE PROCESS CONTROL CHANGES FROM A WORKSTATION CONNECTED TO THE SCADA SYSTEM.

System – A water or wastewater system.

Track – A combination of approved education and experience requirements necessary to qualify for operator certification.

Training approval process guidelines – Department guidelines authorized by the act that set standards for training sponsors, courses, course content, training approval criteria and training provider approval criteria.

Training provider – A person who designs or delivers any type of education or training activities, courses or programs.

Training sponsor – A training provider approved by the Department to provide training to water and wastewater system operators in this Commonwealth in accordance with the Department’s training approval process guidelines.

Treatment – The physical, chemical or biological process necessary to change, modify or maintain the chemical or biological nature of water.

Treatment ponds and lagoons – A wastewater treatment technology that utilizes a pond, lagoon or wetlands with anaerobic or facultative biological processes for the treatment of wastewater and meets the following criteria:

- (i) A design hydraulic detention time in the treatment process of 15 days or greater.
- (ii) A biological treatment process that does not have any return activated sludge system.
- (iii) A biological treatment process that is impacted by diurnal fluctuations as a result of photosynthesis.

Trigger parameter – A set-point for a designated biological, chemical or physical parameter that requires a response by the operator in responsible charge.

Ultraviolet disinfection – A water treatment process that inactivates pathogenic organisms using light with a wavelength range of 4,000 to 40 angstroms.

Upgrade – The certification process an existing certified operator follows to increase the operator’s [authority] ABILITY to make process control decisions at a system [of a specific flow or a system with specific] WITH A HIGHER FLOW OR ADDITIONAL treatment technologies.

Wastewater – A substance that contains the waste products or excrement or other discharge from the bodies of human beings or animals and noxious or deleterious substances being harmful or inimical to the public health, or to animal or aquatic life, or to the use of water for domestic water supply or for recreation, or which constitutes pollution under The Clean Streams Law.

Wastewater environmental laboratory supervisor – An individual having the necessary knowledge, skills and abilities necessary to supervise laboratory procedures and reporting of analytical data for an environmental laboratory operated by a wastewater or industrial waste system in accordance with industry, State and Federal standards.

Wastewater system – A structure designed to collect, convey or treat wastewater and from which effluent in excess of 2,000 gallons per day is discharged into waters of this Commonwealth.

Water system – A community water system or a nontransient noncommunity water system as those terms are defined in section 3 of the Pennsylvania Safe Drinking Water Act (35 P. S. § 721.3).

§ 302.102. Purpose.

(a) The purpose of this chapter is to protect the environment and the public’s health and safety by ensuring that certified operators with the appropriate knowledge, skills and abilities make appropriate process control decisions during the operation of water and wastewater treatment systems, water distribution systems and wastewater collection systems.

(b) This chapter establishes the training, education, experience and examination standards necessary for operator certification.

(c) This chapter also establishes the administrative processes and procedures the Board will follow to implement the Board’s duties and responsibilities under the act.

§ 302.103. Scope.

~~**(a) A person may not make a process control decision at a water or wastewater system unless that person is board-certified with a valid certificate with the appropriate class and subclassifications for the size and treatment technologies of a water or wastewater system and is designated by the owner as the available operator.**~~

~~**(b) To become certified by the board, the applicant shall:**~~

~~**(1) Apply for certification in accordance with § 302.201 (relating to form of application);**~~

~~**(2) Pass the appropriate examinations as defined in § 302.702 (relating to examination requirements) or an equivalent examination as defined in § 302.304 (relating to issuance of a certificate through reciprocity);**~~

~~**(3) Meet minimum education requirements as defined in § 302.701 (relating to minimum education requirements);**~~

~~**(4) Meet the experience requirements as defined in § 302.703 (relating to experience requirements);**~~

(a) OWNERS AND OPERATORS OF THE FOLLOWING SYSTEMS SHALL COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THIS CHAPTER:

(1) COMMUNITY DRINKING WATER SYSTEMS.

(2) NONTRANSIENT NONCOMMUNITY DRINKING WATER SYSTEMS.

(3) CONSECUTIVE WATER SYSTEMS.

(4) DISTRIBUTION WATER SYSTEMS.

(5) WASTEWATER SYSTEMS.

(6) SINGLE ENTITY AND SATELLITE COLLECTION SYSTEMS.

(b)(e) OWNERS AND OPERATORS OF the following **SYSTEMS** are exempt from the requirements of this chapter:

(1) A wastewater treatment system with a permitted average daily discharge flow of less than 2,000 gallons per day.

(2) A wastewater treatment system regulated under Chapter 73 (relating to standards for onlot sewage treatment facilities).

(3) An industrial wastewater system used to treat, recycle or impound industrial or agricultural wastes within the boundaries of the industrial or agricultural property.

~~[(3)]~~ (4) An industrial waste pretreatment system in which treated wastewater is released to a collection system of a wastewater treatment plant that is regulated by this chapter.

~~[(4)]~~ (5) An industrial waste treatment system that is an NPDES permitted point source discharge.

~~[(5)]~~ (6) A water treatment device that serves a single private residence.

~~[(6)]~~ (7) A system designed to only collect and treat stormwater.

~~[(7)]~~ (8) Other systems that are exempted by the Department by rules and regulations, guidelines or policy.

~~[(d)]~~ (c) Operators of industrial wastewater treatment facilities may voluntarily obtain a wastewater system operator's certificate consistent with this chapter.

§ 302.104. CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS

(a) A PERSON MAY NOT MAKE A PROCESS CONTROL DECISION AT A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM UNLESS THAT PERSON IS BOARD-CERTIFIED WITH A VALID CERTIFICATE WITH THE APPROPRIATE CLASS AND SUBCLASSIFICATIONS FOR THE SIZE AND TREATMENT TECHNOLOGIES OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM AND IS DESIGNATED BY THE OWNER AS

THE AVAILABLE OPERATOR AS DEFINED IN §302.1202 (RELATING TO THE DUTIES OF OWNERS).

(b) TO BECOME CERTIFIED BY THE BOARD, THE APPLICANT SHALL:

(1) APPLY FOR CERTIFICATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH § 302.201 (RELATING TO FORM OF APPLICATION).

(2) PASS THE APPROPRIATE EXAMINATIONS AS DEFINED IN § 302.702 (RELATING TO EXAMINATION REQUIREMENTS) OR AN EQUIVALENT EXAMINATION AS DEFINED IN § 302.304 (RELATING TO ISSUANCE OF A CERTIFICATE THROUGH RECIPROCITY).

(3) MEET MINIMUM EDUCATION REQUIREMENTS AS DEFINED IN § 302.701 (RELATING TO MINIMUM EDUCATION REQUIREMENTS).

(4) MEET THE EXPERIENCE REQUIREMENTS AS DEFINED IN § 302.703 (RELATING TO EXPERIENCE REQUIREMENTS).

Subchapter B. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR APPLICATIONS FOR CERTIFICATION ACTIONS

Sec.

302.201. Form of application.

302.202. Operator certification program fees.

§ 302.201. Form of application.

(a) An applicant for examination or a certification action shall submit a complete application with required documentation using the appropriate Department-approved forms to the Board's Secretary. **THESE FORMS CAN BE OBTAINED BY CONTACTING THE BOARD SECRETARY, P.O. BOX 8454, HARRISBURG, PA 17105-8454, OR THROUGH THE DEPARTMENT'S WEBSITE AT WWW.DEPWEB.STATE.PA.US, KEYWORD: "OPERATORS".**

(b) In addition to the forms described in subsection (a), an application for certification action for either certification or recertification must include:

(1) An original or copy of the applicant's Pennsylvania State Police criminal history record, issued no more than 90 days prior to the date the application is received by the Board Secretary.

(2) For education purposes, one of the following:

(i) A copy of the applicant's high school diploma or GED or a statement of completion of high school or achievement of GED.

(ii) Written verification by the applicant's supervisor or another certified operator with direct knowledge of the applicant's experience working as an operator in a water or wastewater system before February 21, 2002.

(3) Documentation of the applicant's experience as defined in § 302.704 (relating to determining qualifying experience) and verified by the applicant's supervisor or another certified operator with the knowledge of the applicant's experience.

(4) An official copy of the applicant's college transcripts, if applicable.

(5) Copies of certificates of completion of Department-approved training courses if applicable.

(6) The applicant's **NOTARIZED** signature [~~, affirmed by a notary public~~].

(7) The applicable fees specified in § 302.202 (relating to operator certification program fees).

(c) In addition to the forms described in subsection (a), an application for certification action for certificate upgrade must include:

(1) An official copy of the applicant's college transcripts, if applicable.

(2) Documentation of the applicant's additional experience for the additional class or subclassification as defined in § 302.703 and § 302.704 (related to experience requirements; and determining qualifying experience), verified by the applicant's supervisor or another certified operator with the knowledge of the applicant's experience.

(3) Copies of certificates of completion of Department-approved training courses, if applicable.

(4) The applicant's **NOTARIZED** signature [~~, affirmed by a notary public~~].

(5) The applicable fees specified in § 302.202.

(d) In addition to the forms described in subsection (a), an application for certification action for certificate renewal must include:

(1) Proof of completed continuing education.

(2) The applicant's **NOTARIZED** signature [~~, affirmed by a notary public~~].

(3) The applicable fees specified in § 302.202.

(e) In addition to the forms described in subsection (a), an application for certification action for reciprocity must include:

(1) An original or copy of the applicant's Pennsylvania State Police criminal history record, issued no more than 90 days prior to the date the application is received by the Board Secretary.

(2) A copy of the applicant's operator certificate issued by another state, territory or Board-approved register as defined in § 302.305 (relating to Board-approved reciprocity register).

(3) For education purposes, one of the following:

(i) A copy of the applicant's high school diploma or GED or a statement of completion of high school or achievement of GED.

(ii) Written verification by the applicant's supervisor or another certified operator with direct knowledge of the applicant's experience working as an operator in a water or wastewater system before February 21, 2002.

(4) Documentation of the applicant's experience as defined in § 302.704 and verified by the applicant's supervisor or another certified operator with the knowledge of the applicant's experience.

(5) A copy of the applicant's official transcripts from college, if applicable.

(6) Copies of certificates of completion of Department-approved training courses if applicable.

(7) The applicant's **NOTARIZED** signature. [~~affirmed by a notary public~~].

(8) The applicable fees specified in § 302.202.

§ 302.202. Operator certification program fees.

(a) An application for a certification action or post-presentation credit must be accompanied by a nonrefundable check or money order payable to the "Commonwealth of Pennsylvania." The applicant's client ID should be printed on the check or money order.

(b) Applications to become an approved training provider, course and conference approvals, course rosters and requests for examination sessions must be accompanied by a nonrefundable check or money order payable to the "Commonwealth of Pennsylvania".

(c) [~~Annual reports as described in § 302.1202(b) (relating to the duties of owners)~~] **THE ANNUAL SERVICE FEE PAID BY SYSTEM OWNERS** must be accompanied by a nonrefundable check or money order payable to the "Commonwealth of Pennsylvania." The systems' Public Water Supply ID or NPDES Permit Number should be printed on the check or money order. **THE ANNUAL SERVICE FEE FOR SYSTEMS IN SUBSECTION (D) IS A FEE PER PUBLIC WATER SUPPLY ID OR NPDES PERMIT NUMBER.**

(d) The fees are as follows:

Operators:

Initial Certification Class A, B, C, D	\$150
Initial Certification Class Dc, (Dn) , Class E	\$100
Certification through Reciprocity Class A, B, C, D	\$150
Certification through Reciprocity Class Dc; (Dn) , Class E	\$100
Certificate Renewal	\$60
Examination Session	\$35
Replacement of Certificate or Pocket Card	\$25
Post-presentation Credit Application	\$250

Training:

Training Provider Approval Application	\$90
Brief Course Approval	\$115
Full Course Approval	\$300
Conference Approval	\$70
Course Rosters	\$1 per name

Classroom Courses offered by the Department are \$10 per contact hour maximum per person.
Web-based Courses offered by the Department are \$30 per contact hour maximum per person.
Onsite Training offered by the Department is \$1600 per event.

Approved Examination Providers:

Ten or more examination sessions per year	\$800
Five to ten examination sessions per year	\$700
Two to five examination sessions per year	\$600
One examination session per year	\$400

Owners:

Annual Service Fee Class A System	\$500
Annual Service Fee Class B System	\$150
Annual Service Fee Class C System	\$100
Annual Service Fee Class D and E Systems	\$65

~~[(e) The maximum fee a training provider or owner will be charged is \$10,000 per year.]~~

~~[(f)](e.)~~ An operator holding a valid certificate as of _____ (*Editor's Note: The blank refers to the effective date of adoption of this proposed rulemaking*), is not required to pay the **INITIAL** certification fees identified in subsection ~~[(b)](d)~~. ~~[The] THIS~~ operator is subject to all other fees in this section.

~~[(g)](f.)~~ The fees identified in subsection ~~[(b)](d)~~ are in addition to any fees charged by an approved examination provider as defined in § 302.602 (relating to approved examination providers)

(g) THE FEES IDENTIFIED IN SUBSECTION (d) RELATED TO COURSE APPROVAL ARE A ONE-TIME FEE ASSESSED FOR THE COURSE. TRAINING PROVIDERS THAT HAVE COURSES APPROVED AS OF _____ (EDITOR'S NOTE: THE BLANK REFERS TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF ADOPTION OF THIS PROPOSED RULEMAKING) ARE NOT REQUIRED TO PAY THIS FEE FOR THESE APPROVED COURSES.

(h) A CONFERENCE APPROVAL FEE IS A ONE-TIME FEE ASSESSED FOR THE ENTIRE CONFERENCE AND IS NOT BASED ON THE NUMBER OF TRAINING SESSIONS IN THE CONFERENCE.

~~(h)~~(i) No person regulated by ~~[this]~~ **THE** act shall pay more than a total of \$10,000 annually to the Commonwealth **FOR** operator certification fees specified under ~~[this]~~ **THE** act.

(j) NO FEDERAL OR STATE AGENCY THAT PROVIDES FUNDING TO THE DEPARTMENT THROUGH TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF A MUTUAL AGREEMENT FOR THE ADMINISTRATION OF THIS PROGRAM SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE FEES IN SUBSECTION (d).

~~(i)~~ (k) The Department will review the adequacy of the fees established in this section at least once every 3 years and provide a written report to the Environmental Quality Board. The report will identify any disparity between the amount of program income generated by the fees and the costs to administer these programs, and it will contain recommendations to modify fees to eliminate the disparity, including recommendations for regulatory amendments to modify program fees.

Subchapter C. BOARD PROCEDURES AND ACTIONS

Sec.

- 302.301. Board procedures for certification action.
- 302.302. Issuance of certificate for certification or recertification.
- 302.303. Issuance of upgraded certificate.
- 302.304. Issuance of certificate through reciprocity.
- 302.305. Board-approved reciprocity register.
- 302.306. Certificate renewal.
- 302.307. Extensions.
- 302.308. Suspensions, revocation or modification of an operator's certificate.
- 302.309. Board review of Department training decisions.

§ 302.301. Board procedures for certification action.

(a) ~~[The Department, under the supervision of the]~~ **THE** Board Secretary, will review the application for certification action for completeness.

(b) If the application is not complete, the applicant will be notified [~~in a timely manner~~] **WITHIN 14 DAYS** from receipt of the application, of the specific information required to make the application complete.

(c) When an application is complete, the Board Secretary will review the application using policy and procedures defined by the Board in guidelines and make a recommendation for action to the Board designating the appropriate class and subclassification. **The Board will make the final determination on the appropriate class and subclassification**

(d) The Board will take an action on a complete application within **two scheduled Board meetings after the Board Secretary has completed the review of the application, provided the application is complete and contains sufficient information for the Board to make a decision** **120 DAYS. THE BOARD WILL APPROVE AN APPLICATION ONCE THE APPLICANT HAS DEMONSTRATED TO THE BOARD'S SATISFACTION THAT THE STANDARDS FOR CERTIFICATION AS DEFINED IN THIS CHAPTER HAVE BEEN MET.**

(e) The Board Secretary will issue the operator's certificate within 60 days of Board action. A certificate will include the issuance and expiration dates, class and subclassifications, client ID and certification identification numbers and pocket card for identification purposes.

(f) The issuance date on the certificate corresponds with the date of Board action and the operator is assigned to the current 3-year renewal cycle (either the first day of January, April, July or October). The certificate is valid for a 3 year period and will expire on the date indicated unless suspended, modified or revoked by the Board prior to expiration.

(g) The Board will deny an application for certification action for failure to meet the requirements of the act, the regulations promulgated under [~~this~~] **THE** act, and [~~other~~] **Department rules and regulations related to the operation of water and wastewater systems.** **ANY PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO THE PROPER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM PURSUANT TO THE CLEAN STREAMS LAW (35 P.S. §§691.1 – 691.1001), SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (5 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17) AND THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT (35 P.S. §§6018.1 – 6018.101)AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THERE UNDER.**

(h) The Board authorizes the Board Secretary to deny an application for certification action without Board review for failure to:

(1) Meet the requirements for reciprocity as defined in § 302.304 (relating to issuance of certificate through reciprocity).

(2) Meet processing deadlines.

(3) Successfully pass an examination for certification.

(i) When the Board denies an application for certification action, the Board Secretary will notify the applicant in writing within 60 days of the Board decision, describing the applicant's right to appeal the action to the Environmental Hearing Board.

(j) Within 4 weeks of receiving a written request of a certified operator and payment of a fee as established in § 302.202 (relating to operator certification program fees) for the replacement of a certificate or wallet card, the Board Secretary will fulfill the request.

§ 302.302. Issuance of certificate for certification or recertification.

The Board may approve a complete application for certification action for either certification or recertification with a designated class and subclassification when the applicant has met the requirements for certification as defined in § 302.~~103 (relating to scope)~~ **104(RELATING TO CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS)**. The Board will also complete the review of the applicant's criminal history record in accordance with § 302.402 and 302.403 (relating to CHR investigations; and review of CHRs by the Board) before approving a complete application for certification action for certification or recertification.

§ 302.303. Issuance of upgraded certificate.

(a) The Board will approve a complete application for certification action to upgrade an existing certificate to the appropriate class when the applicant meets the additional experience requirements defined in § 302.703 (relating to experience requirements) for the upgrade in class. The Board will also approve a complete application for certification action to upgrade an operator-in-training as defined in § 302.1004 (relating to operator-in-training status) when the operator-in-training has met the minimum experience requirements for certification defined in § 302.703.

(b) The Board will approve a complete application for certification action to upgrade an existing certificate to add another subclassification when the applicant passes the Part II Treatment Technology Specific Examination as defined in § 302.601 (relating to general provisions) that corresponds to a subclassification defined in §§ 302.1002 and 302.1003 (relating to the certification classes and subclassifications of water system operators; and certification classes and subclassifications of wastewater system operators) and completes 1 year additional experience requirement, if applicable, as defined in § 302.703 and § 302.704 (relating to experience requirements; and determining qualifying experience).

(c) The Board will replace the applicant's existing certificate with an upgraded certificate that maintains the operator's current 3 year renewal cycle. Those applicants that were upgraded from the operator-in-training status will be issued a certificate in accordance with procedures defined in § 302.301 (relating to Board procedures for certification action).

(d) Additional changes in continuing education requirements as defined in § 302.803 (relating to phased schedule for continuing education requirements) resulting from an upgrade will not be enforced until the certified operator's next full 3 year renewal cycle.

(e) Class Dc, Dn and grandparented certificates will not be upgraded.

§ 302.304. Issuance of certificate through reciprocity.

(a) The Board may issue a certificate to an applicant holding a valid water or wastewater, or both, operator certificate from another state, territory, the District of Columbia or a Board-approved reciprocity register, when the applicant meets the requirements for certification defined in § 302. ~~[103 (relating to scope)]~~ **104(RELATIING TO CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS)** and demonstrates the out-of-State certificate was issued as the result of passing an examination comparable to one administered by the Board.

(b) The Department will determine whether the content of the examination is comparable to an examination prepared by the Department and obtain confirmation from the state, territory or Board approved registry that issued the applicant's certificate that the applicant holds a valid certificate, and is in compliance with applicable laws, regulations and other requirements.

(c) Operators previously certified in this Commonwealth are not eligible to apply for reciprocity if:

(1) The Board revoked, suspended or modified their certificate in accordance with § 302.308 (relating to suspensions, revocation or modification of an operator's certificate).

(2) The operator failed to meet the continuing education requirements for their most recent 3 year renewal cycle.

§ 302.305. Board-approved reciprocity register.

(a) The Board recognizes the Association of Boards of Certification Registry and United States Military or Coast Guard discharge papers documenting water or wastewater operation as reciprocity registers.

(b) The Board may recognize additional certification registers upon request by a certified operator or the entity maintaining the register.

§ 302.306. Certificate renewal.

(a) Certified operators meeting the requirements of the act, this ~~[part, and other Department rules and regulations related to the operation of water and wastewater systems]~~ **CHAPTER, PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO THE PROPER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM PURSUANT TO THE CLEAN STREAMS LAW (35 P.S. §§691.1 – 691.1001), SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (5 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17) AND THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT (35 P.S. §§6018.1 – 6018.101) AND**

REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER and Department and Board guidelines will be eligible for certificate renewal without further examination.

(b) The Board will attempt to notify certified operators when renewal is due at least 60 days prior to certificate expiration. Failure to receive a renewal application from the Board does not release a certified operator from the requirements of the act, this ~~[part, and other Department rules and regulations related to the operation of water and wastewater systems.]~~ **CHAPTER AND PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO THE PROPER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM PURSUANT TO THE CLEAN STREAMS LAW (35 P.S. §§691.1 – 691.1001), SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (5 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17) AND THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT (35 P.S. §§6018.1 – 6018.101) AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.**

(c) Certified operators shall meet the continuing education requirements as defined in § 302.803 (relating to phased schedule for continuing education requirements) as a condition of renewal.

(d) Continuing education must be successfully obtained during the certified operator's 3 year certification period. A certified operator who fails to complete the continuing education requirements within the 3 year cycle shall apply for recertification.

(e) The Board will not renew a certificate for an operator who fails to meet the continuing education requirements, unless the operator has applied for and been granted, an extension in accordance with § 302.307 (relating to extensions).

(f) A certificate will not be deemed expired if the Board Secretary has received a complete application for certification action for renewal before the expiration date of the certificate. This provision will be in force until the Board takes action on the application. If approved, the certificate will be issued with an expiration date that maintains the operator's prior 3 year cycle.

(g) A certificate renewal issued by the Board after the certificate has expired will have the effective issuance date of ~~[the first day of the month in the next quarter (January, April, July or October) following Board action]~~ **WHEN THE BOARD SECRETARY FINISHES THE PROCESSING OF THE APPLICATION FOR CERTIFICATE RENEWAL.** The expiration date will be 3 years after the expiration date of the lapsed certificate.

(h) Within 24 months following the date of expiration, an operator who has completed the continuing education, but whose certificate has expired, may renew the certificate by submitting a complete application for certification action for renewal. A certified operator who fails to renew the certificate within 24 months of the expiration date shall apply for recertification.

(i) The Board Secretary will submit a listing of applicants for certificate renewal to the Board that the Department has determined have not met the continuing education requirements as defined in § 302.802 (relating to continuing education requirements for certificate renewal). The listing will include the applicants' name, their classes and subclassifications of certification and the number of approved hours of continuing education completed.

(j) An operator shall submit any post-presentation credit applications for training that ~~[was]~~ **WERE** not preapproved by the Department in accordance with training approval process guidelines within 90 days after certificate expiration.

(k) After the Board has taken action to deny an application for certificate renewal due to lack of continuing education, the Board Secretary will send a certified letter to the operator notifying them of the Board's decision. ~~[If possible, the]~~ **THE** Board Secretary will send a copy of this letter to the appropriate Department regional program manager and the owners of **ANY** systems ~~[when the operator is identified by the owners as an available operator for the systems]~~ **WHO IDENTIFIED THE OPERATOR AS AN AVAILABLE OPERATOR FOR THEIR SYSTEMS.**

(l) The operator has 14 days from receipt of the certified letter to submit additional documentation of completed continuing education for review by the Department to the Board Secretary. If the Department approves the additional documentation showing compliance with the requirement for continuing education, the Board Secretary will issue a valid certificate to the operator. If not, the operator is no longer certified, and shall apply for recertification.

§ 302.307. Extensions.

(a) The Board may grant a time extension to a certified operator to meet the requirements of the act, this part, and ~~[other Department rules and regulations related to the operation of water and wastewater systems]~~ **PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO THE PROPER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM PURSUANT TO THE CLEAN STREAMS LAW (35 P.S. §§691.1 – 691.1001), SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (5 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17) AND THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT (35 P.S. §§6018.1 – 6018.101) AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER** provided that:

(1) The certified operator requests an extension in writing with appropriate justification no later than 90 days after certificate expiration, except in extenuating circumstances.

(2) The certified operator agrees to meet all requirements within a specific time period established by the Board.

~~[(3)Any Board extension is consistent with only those specific powers and duties granted to the Board.]~~

(b) ~~[The]~~ **WITHIN 14 DAYS OF BOARD ACTION**, the Board Secretary will provide an explanation of the Board's decision and any requirements for compliance in writing to the certified operator.

(c) Circumstances that justify an extension include:

(1) Military service that curtails an operator's ability to access continuing education, mandated training or Board testing,

(2) Health related circumstances that curtail an operator's ability to participate in continuing education, mandated training or Board testing,

(3) Other extreme circumstances.

§ 302.308. Suspensions, revocation or modification of an operator's certificate.

(a) The Board may take action to suspend, revoke, modify or reinstate an operator's certificate upon petition by the Department.

(b) The Board may suspend, revoke or modify a certificate for misconduct for reasons including:

(1) Negligence in ~~[operating]~~ **THE OPERATION OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER** system.

(2) Fraud.

(3) Falsification of ~~[State, local or Federal documents or]~~ **APPLICATION OR OPERATING** records.

(4) ~~[Failure]~~ **INCOMPETENCE OR** failure to use reasonable care and professional judgment in performing the duties of a certified operator **AS DEFINED IN §302.1201 (RELATING TO DUTIES OF OPERATORS).**

(5) ~~[Violation of State or Federal laws and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder associated with the operation of a water or wastewater treatment system.]~~ **INCOMPETENCE OR FAILURE TO USE REASONABLE CARE AND PROFESSIONAL JUDGMENT THAT RESULTS IN A VIOLATION OF PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO THE PROPER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM PURSUANT TO THE CLEAN STREAMS LAW (35 P.S. §§691.1 – 691.1001), SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (5 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17) AND THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT (35 P.S. §§6018.1 – 6018.101) AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.**

~~[(6) Creating a clear or potential threat to public health, safety or the environment.]~~

~~[(7) Failure to comply with the duties assigned to a certified operator.]~~

(c) Suspension, revocation, modification or reinstatement of an operator's certificate will become effective immediately upon the Board's action.

(d) The Board may suspend or modify a certificate for a specific time period or require additional education, training or reexamination as a condition of reinstatement.

(e) Within 5 days of the Board taking an action to suspend, revoke, modify or reinstate an operator's certificate, the Board Secretary will notify the Department, the certified operator and the certified operator's employer in writing of the Board action to suspend, revoke or modify an operator's certificate.

(f) ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE BOARD RELATED TO THIS SECTION ARE APPEALABLE TO THE ENVIRONMENTAL HEARING BOARD.

§ 302.309. Board review of Department training decisions

(a) A training provider or sponsor may request the Board to review a Department action to do the following:

(1) Approve, disapprove, revoke or suspend a training provider's status as an approved sponsor of training for certification and continuing education.

(2) Approve, deny, revoke or suspend the approval of any course for certification and continuing education.

(3) Assess an instructor's qualifications.

(4) Assign appropriate continuing education contact hours.

(b) Within 75 days of receiving notification from the Department, a training provider or sponsor ~~will~~ **MAY** submit a request to the Board to review the Department's decision. The request must include the following:

(1) The reasons for the Department's decision.

(2) The reasons why the Board review is necessary.

(3) Any circumstances that merit consideration by the Board to reverse or modify the Department's decision.

(4) The desired action from the Board.

(c) The Board will take action on any training decision request within 120 days of completion of a scheduled Board meeting dealing with the training action.

(d) ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE BOARD RELATED TO THIS SECTION ARE APPEALABLE TO THE ENVIRONMENTAL HEARING BOARD.

Subchapter D. CRIMINAL HISTORY RECORDS

Sec.

302.401. Submission of CHRs.

302.402. CHR investigation.

302.403. Review of CHRs by the Board.

302.404. Board actions as the result of its review of a CHR.

§ 302.401. Submission of CHRs.

(a) The Board requires a CHR to accompany an application whenever an applicant does one or more of the following:

- (1) Submits an application for certification. A CHR is not required for subsequent renewals.
- (2) Submits an application requesting certification by reciprocity.
- (3) Submits an application for recertification.

(b) An applicant holding a bioperable certification shall meet the requirements in subsection (a) for each separate water and wastewater certificate.

(c) The date of issuance on a CHR must be no more than 90 days before the date when the application is received by the Board Secretary.

§ 302.402. CHR investigations.

(a) The following criminal activities require further investigation:

- (1) A felony.
- (2) A misdemeanor that appears to be related directly to activities associated with carrying out THE duties and responsibilities as a certified operator.

~~[(3) A misdemeanor that appears to pose a threat to public health, safety or the environment.]~~

§ 302.403. REVIEW OF CHRs BY THE BOARD.

(a) The Board will review all CHRs submitted with applications for certification action in accordance with the act and this chapter.

(b) A preliminary review committee will conduct a review, and if necessary, conduct appropriate investigations and make a recommendation to the Board for action. The membership of this committee will include:

- (1) A Board member.
- (2) A Department employee.
- (3) Board legal counsel.

(c) The Board or Board-designated agent will conduct an evaluation of all applicants with a conviction noted on their CHR to determine the appropriate category in this section. Convictions meeting the criteria in § 302.402 (relating to CHR investigations) require the Department to conduct an investigation and submit a written report to the Board or Board-designated agent.

(d) If the preliminary review committee feels the conviction may be related to the operation of a drinking water or wastewater treatment system, they will instruct the Board Secretary to send the applicant a certified letter notifying them of this potential and offering them the opportunity to appear at the next regularly scheduled Board meeting to present any information they feel is relevant or related to the conviction. The Department employee on the committee will also solicit further information from the appropriate regional office as it relates to the circumstances that resulted in the conviction and the applicant's record as an operator.

(e) The preliminary review committee will provide reasons for their recommendation and any associated documentation.

(f) These recommendations will be assigned into the following two categories:

- (1) Recommend approval of the application for certification action.
- (2) Recommend that the full Board review the CHR and investigation findings.

~~[(g) A certified operator will not be denied a temporary certification for renewal pending a final action of the Board on a CHR. In this case a letter will be sent extending the certified operator's existing certificate until the Board takes final action.]~~

~~(h)~~(g) An applicant for certification will not be denied admittance to the certification exam pending a final action on a CHR.

~~(i)~~(h) The Department will complete the investigation **~~in a timely manner~~ WITHIN 120 DAYS UNLESS GRANTED AN EXTENSION BY THE PRELIMINARY REVIEW COMMITTEE** based on circumstances related to the necessary collection of information needed to make a recommendation.

§ 302.404. Board actions as the result of a CHR.

- (a) The Board will act on all CHRs submitted with an application for certification action.
- (b) The Board will find no further action is necessary when an applicant's CHR shows no convictions.
- (c) Based on the Board's authority under 18 Pa. C.S. Chapter. 91 (relating to criminal history record information), the Board may deny an application for certification action based on a conviction of either:
 - (1) A felony related to the trade, occupation or profession for which the certification is sought.
 - (2) A misdemeanor related to the trade, occupation or profession for which the certification is sought.
- (d) The Board will review the recommendations of the preliminary review committee before taking action. Based on this review, the Board will do one of the following:
 - (1) Agree with the preliminary review committee and take action on the CHR accordingly.
 - (2) Disagree with the preliminary review committee and take action on the CHR accordingly.
- (e) **[The] WITHIN 14 DAYS OF BOARD ACTION, THE** Board Secretary will notify an applicant in writing of the Board's decision to deny an application for certification action based on the applicant's CHR. **THIS NOTIFICATION WILL ALSO IDENTIFY THE BOARD'S REASONS FOR THE DECISION.**

[~~(f) If an application for certification action is denied, the Board will identify the reasons for the decision, since this decision prohibits the individual from practicing as a certified operator in this Commonwealth.~~

[~~(g) An applicant wishing to appeal a Board action shall petition the EHB]~~ (f) ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE BOARD RELATED TO THIS SECTION ARE APPEALABLE TO THE ENVIRONMENTAL HEARING BOARD.

Subchapter E. ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS OF THE BOARD

Sec.

302.501. General requirements.

§ 302.501. General requirements.

(a) The Department may file with the Board Secretary a written petition under section 4(b)(1) of the act (63 P. S. § 1004(b)(1)), by submitting a written request containing the following information:

(1) The factual basis of the petition including the dates, times and places of the occurrences and the names of the responsible parties with sufficient specificity that the respondent can file an answer and prepare a defense to the allegations.

(2) The statutes or regulations, or both, allegedly violated and underlying the petition.

(3) The relief requested.

(4) An identification of the Department attorney or contact person, including the address and telephone number, who can receive service on behalf of the Department.

(b) Upon receipt of a petition, the Board Secretary will:

(1) Provide a copy of the petition to the operators named in the petition, sent by certified mail.

(2) Schedule the petition for hearing before the Board or a hearing officer appointed by the Board. As necessary, the Board Secretary may schedule prehearing conferences and issue orders needed to dispose of prehearing issues.

(c) Requests to reschedule or cancel a hearing must be in writing and be received by the Board Secretary at least 14 days prior to the date of the hearing. Continuance of a hearing is at the discretion of the Board. The Board may continue a hearing upon its own motion.

(d) The hearings of the Board will be in accordance with 2 Pa.C.S. **A**, Chapter 5 Subchapter A [~~and Chapter 7 Subchapter A et seq.~~](relating to Administrative Agency Law).

(e) The Chairperson of the Board is authorized to sign decisions and orders on behalf of the Board.

(f) An order of the Board will be effective immediately unless otherwise indicated within the order.

(g) Decisions on the petition may be appealed to the **EHB.** **ENVIRONMENTAL HEARING BOARD.**

Subchapter F. PREPARATION AND ADMINISTRATION OF CERTIFICATION EXAMINATIONS

Sec.

302.601. General provisions.

302.602. Approved examination providers.

302.603. Examination eligibility.

302.604. Examination administration.

302.605. Use of materials and electronic devices by the applicant during examination.

§ 302.601. General provisions.

(a) The Department will prepare and the Board will administer valid certification examinations using general psychometric principles to measure the applicant's knowledge, skills and abilities necessary to make process control decisions that meet permit requirements, maintain system reliability and ensure the protection of the environment, public health and safety.

(b) Certification and recertification examinations will consist of a two part examination. Part I of the examination will measure the applicant's knowledge, skills and abilities common to all water or wastewater systems regardless of size. Part II of the examination will measure the applicant's knowledge, skills and abilities necessary to operate specific treatment technologies or system components.

(c) There will be separate stand-alone examinations for wastewater collection systems, either satellite or single entity; water distribution or consecutive systems without treatment and Dc or Dn systems.

(d) There will be a Part II examination for laboratory supervisor for a water system and a Part II examination for laboratory supervisor for a wastewater system.

(e) There will be a master examination for either water or wastewater systems for operators wanting a master certificate to operate all available treatment technologies and system components.

(f) The Department will annually review examinations for relevancy. The Department may use third party contractors, members of the Board or the Certification Program Advisory Committee, Department staff ~~of~~ **OR ANY** other qualified individuals as subject matter experts for the content and validation of the examinations.

(g) The Board may use third-party examination proctors for administration of examinations, provided the proctors have completed the necessary training defined by Board guidelines.

(h) Paper and test materials remain the property of the Board.

(i) **THE BOARD, BOARD SECRETARY OR THE DEPARTMENT WILL NOT DISCLOSE** individual examination scores [~~will be confidential and will not be disclosed~~] to the public.

§ 302.602. Approved examination providers.

(a) The Board may use consultants, nonprofit water and wastewater industry associations and organizations, the Department or educational institutions to assist in the administration of the examinations for certification. The Board Secretary will approve all examination providers in accordance with Board guidelines.

(b) Approved examination providers may charge a fee to an applicant to cover the cost of personnel, facility rental and other incurred costs related to the registration and administration of the examination.

(c) Approved examination providers will not at any time be in possession of any Department-developed examination materials or examination content.

(d) Approved examination providers will administer examinations in accordance with Board guidelines.

§ 302.603. Examination eligibility.

(a) An applicant for examination must submit a request for examination using approved Board forms to one of the approved examination providers. The applicant shall also pay any fees defined by the approved examination provider for processing this request.

(b) An individual is not required to meet experience requirements of the act, regulations or guidelines as a condition for examination.

(c) An individual is not required to successfully attain any training as a condition for examination.

(d) An individual that attends five or more examination sessions without applying for certification shall pay the examination session fees as defined in § 302.202 (relating to operator certification program fees) before being allowed to attend additional examination sessions.

(e) A certified operator is not required to retake an examination already successfully passed unless:

(1) The individual fails to renew their certification within 2 years from the expiration date of the certification.

(2) The individual fails to complete the required amount of continuing education within the 3-year renewal cycle.

(3) The Board takes action to suspend or modify the certification. A certified operator whose license is revoked may not apply to become recertified or to reexamine.

§ 302.604. EXAMINATION ADMINISTRATION.

(a) The proctors and Department staff shall follow all procedures for the administration of an examination as defined in Board guidelines.

(b) The examination proctor will provide a written report to the Board regarding any applicant violating this section or Board guidelines.

(c) The Board may make exceptions to a written examination or other examination requirements when an applicant or representative makes a “reasonable accommodation” request under the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U. S. C. A §§ 12101 – 12213) in written form to the Board, the request documents the reason for the accommodation and the request is submitted to the Board Secretary in writing. ~~[at least 15 days before the date of the examination.]~~ **THE BOARD SECRETARY WILL NOTIFY THE APPLICANT WITHIN FOURTEEN DAYS AFTER BOARD ACTION ON THE REQUEST.**

(d) The Board may make exceptions to the scheduled date and location of an examination upon written request by an applicant based on religious preference, jury duty or other compelling reasons.

§ 302.605. Use of materials and electronic devices by the applicant during examination.

(a) The use of nonprogrammable calculators by applicants during the examination is permitted.

(b) The use of hand held computers or other devices that can store technical information, electronic communication devices, personal music players or other memory storage devices or printed materials other than the materials provided by the examination proctor during the examination is not permitted during the examination.

(c) An applicant may use special electronic devices, if the applicant has submitted a written request to the Board Secretary for approval and has received written approval from the Board.

Subchapter G. EDUCATION, EXAMINATION AND EXPERIENCE REQUIREMENTS

Sec.

302.701. Minimum education requirements.

- 302.702. Examination requirements.
- 302.703. Experience requirements.
- 302.704. Determining qualifying experience.
- 302.705. Accelerated certification requirements for system modifications.

§ 302.701. Minimum education requirements.

(a) An applicant for certification shall obtain a high school diploma or a GED to meet one of the minimum education requirements.

(b) The Board may grant an education exemption to the requirements in subsection (a) if the applicant provides written verification by the applicant's supervisor or another certified operator with direct knowledge of the applicant's experience working as an operator in a water or wastewater system before February 21, 2002.

(c) Experience used to meet the equivalency for a high school diploma or GED cannot be used as experience for certification.

§ 302.702. Examination requirements.

(a) An applicant for certification in wastewater shall obtain a passing score on a Part I General Examination and one or more of the Part II Treatment Technology Specific Examinations, a Master Examination or a Collection System Examination.

(b) An applicant for certification in drinking water shall obtain a passing score on a Part I General Examination and one or more of the Part II Treatment Technology Specific Examinations for Class A, B and C, a Part I General Examination for Class D, a Master Examination, a Dc or Dn Small System Examination or a Distribution Examination.

(c) An applicant shall obtain a minimum numerical score of correctly answered questions based on general psychometric principles to pass an examination for certification.

(d) An applicant's score on an examination is independent and not conditional on the results of any other type of certification examination.

(e) Test results are valid indefinitely, unless the applicant must apply for recertification as determined by the Board.

§ 302.703. Experience requirements.

(a) To meet the requirements for certification, the Department will provide an applicant with two different experience tracks.

(b) Track I identifies the experience requirement necessary to qualify for certification when the applicant meets the basic educational requirement in § 302.701 (relating to minimum education requirements).

(1) Track I experience requirements for wastewater treatment system operators.

Class	Minimum Experience
A	4 years
B	3 years
C	2 years
D	1 year
E	1 year

(2) Track I experience requirements for water system operators.

Class	Minimum Experience
A	4 years
B	3 years
C	2 years
D	1 year
E	1 year
Dc	6 months
Dn	6 months

(c) An applicant for operator certification using Track I may supplement up to 50% of the required experience by successfully completing additional education beyond the minimum education requirement defined in § 302.701. One month of experience can be credited for the successful completion of every 10 contact hours of Department-approved training courses in water or wastewater, as applicable, or 1.5 months experience may be credited for the successful completion of one college credit in water or wastewater from an accredited college or university. **THE DEPARTMENT WILL APPROVE THESE COURSES IN ACCORDANCE WITH ITS TRAINING APPROVAL PROCESS GUIDELINES.**

(d) Track II provides a reduction in the experience requirements defined in subsection (b) when the applicant has successfully earned one of the following:

(1) A certificate of completion of a Department-approved certificate program in water or wastewater, or both (CP). **THE DEPARTMENT WILL APPROVE THIS PROGRAM IN ACCORDANCE WITH ITS TRAINING APPROVAL PROCESS GUIDELINES.**

(2) An associate degree in a water or wastewater operations, or both, approved by the Department (ASP). **THE DEPARTMENT WILL APPROVE THIS PROGRAM IN ACCORDANCE WITH ITS TRAINING APPROVAL PROCESS GUIDELINES.**

(3) An associate degree in environmental sciences, physical sciences, engineering or engineering technology not approved by the Department (AS).

(4) A bachelor's or graduate degree in biology, chemistry, environmental sciences, physical sciences, sanitary or environmental engineering or engineering technology from a nationally accredited college or university (BS/BA).

(e) The required experience under Track II is:

(1) Track II experience requirements for wastewater treatment system operators.

Class	CP	ASP	AS	BS/BA
A	2 years	1 year	3.5 years	2 years
B	1 year	6 months	2.5 years	1 year
C	6 months	6 months	1.5 years	6 months
D	6 months	6 months	6 months	6 months
E	6 months	6 months	6 months	6 months

(2) Track II experience requirements for water system operators.

Class	CP	ASP	AS	BS/BA
A	2 years	1 year	3.5 years	2 years
B	1 year	6 months	2.5 years	1 year
C	6 months	6 months	1.5 years	6 months
D	6 months	6 months	6 months	6 months
E	6 months	6 months	6 months	6 months
Dc	0	0	6 months	0
Dn	0	0	6 months	0

(f) When education is applied to meet the experience requirements for certification under Track II, the credit can only be applied once and is not cumulative.

§ 302.704. Determining qualifying experience.

(a) The Board will determine if the applicant's experience meets the experience requirements defined in § 302.703 (relating to experience requirements).

(b) Experience for certification is achieved by participating in a combination of activities related to process control under the supervision of a certified operator who holds the appropriate subclassifications.

(c) The Board will consider the following activities for qualifying experience:

- (1) Operating mechanical equipment related to process control.
- (2) Maintaining mechanical equipment related to process control.
- (3) Collecting and analyzing chemical and biological samples related to process control and regulatory compliance activities.
- (4) Performing calculations related to process control.
- (5) Preparing or standardizing chemical and biological solutions.
- (6) Interpreting, compiling and completing monitoring data.
- (7) Recommending appropriate process control measures.
- (8) Participating in onsite assessment, inspection or evaluation of plant processes.
- (9) Calibrating chemical feed systems.
- (10) Using equipment to monitor and measure flows through a water or wastewater system.

(d) An applicant for a wastewater certificate may apply experience as defined in subsection (c) as follows:

(1) Experience working at an activated sludge wastewater system qualifies an applicant for an activated sludge wastewater certificate (Subclassification 1), the fixed film wastewater certificate (Subclassification 2) and the treatment pond and lagoon wastewater certificate (Subclassification 3).

(2) Experience working at a fixed film wastewater system qualifies an applicant for a fixed film wastewater certificate (Subclassification 2) and a treatment pond and lagoon wastewater certificate (Subclassification 3).

(3) Experience working at a treatment pond and lagoon wastewater system qualifies the applicant for the treatment pond and lagoon wastewater certificate (Subclassification 3).

(4) Experience working at a satellite collection system or a single entity collection system qualifies the applicant for a Class E Subclassification 4 wastewater certificate.

(5) Experience for class may be obtained at a wastewater system with the classification level requested or two classification levels alphabetically lower.

(e) An applicant for a water certificate may apply experience as defined in subsection (c) as follows:

(1) Experience working at a conventional filtration, direct filtration, diatomaceous earth filtration or slow sand filtration water system qualifies an applicant for any of the following:

(i) The filtration water certificates (Subclassifications 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6).

(ii) The chemical treatment water certificates (Subclassifications 7, 8, 9 and 10).

(iii) The gaseous chlorine and nongaseous chemical disinfection water treatment certificates (Subclassifications 11 and 12).

(2) Experience working at a cartridge or bag filtration or membrane filtration water system qualifies an applicant for any of the following:

(i) The cartridge or bag filtration and the membrane filtration water certificates (Subclassifications 5 and 6).

(ii) The chemical treatment water certificates (Subclassifications 7, 8, 9 and 10).

(iii) The gaseous chlorine and nongaseous chemical disinfection water treatment certificates (Subclassifications 11 and 12).

(3) Experience working at a corrosion control and sequestering, chemical addition, ion exchange and greensand or aeration and activated carbon adsorption water system qualifies an applicant for any of the following:

(i) The chemical treatment water certificates (Subclassifications 7, 8, 9 and 10).

(ii) The gaseous chlorine and nongaseous chemical disinfection water treatment certificates (Subclassifications 11 and 12).

(4) Experience working at a gaseous chlorine disinfection or nongaseous chemical disinfection water system qualifies an applicant for the gaseous chlorine and nongaseous chemical disinfection water treatment certificates (Subclassifications 11 and 12).

(5) Experience working at an ultraviolet water system qualifies an applicant for the ultraviolet water treatment certificate (Subclassification 13).

(6) Experience working at an ozonation water system qualifies an applicant for the ozonation water treatment certificate (Subclassification 14).

(7) Experience for a class may be obtained at a water system at the classification level requested or two classification levels alphabetically lower.

(8) Experience working at a Dc water system qualifies an applicant for only the Class D water certificate with the gaseous chlorine and nongaseous chemical disinfection water treatment certificates (Subclassifications 11 and 12).

(9) Experience working at a Dn water system qualifies an applicant for only the Class D water certificate without any subclassifications.

(f) One year of experience is equal to 220 working days or 1,760 hours of employment.

(g) Experience will be prorated for time periods less than 1 year.

(h) Experience is counted up to the first day of the month after the applicant submits an application for certification action.

(i) An applicant's experience at a wastewater system may be used to meet no more than half the experience requirement for a drinking water certification of the same classification level or a level alphabetically lower. The remaining experience must be operating experience at a drinking water system as defined in subsection (c).

(j) An applicant's experience at a water system may be used to meet no more than half the experience requirement of a wastewater certification of the same classification level or a level alphabetically lower. The remaining experience must be operating experience at a wastewater system as defined in subsection (c).

§ 302.705. Accelerated certification requirements for system modifications.

(a) An operator certificate upgrade is required when an increase in treatment capacity of the system no longer qualifies the available operator to make process control decisions for that system. When the capacity of the system is increased **SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASSIFICATION OF THE SYSTEM**, the existing available operators will qualify for an accelerated certification upgrade by applying for an upgrade in class before the larger system becomes operational. Additional experience or training is not required.

(b) An operator certificate upgrade is required when the addition of a different treatment technology to a system no longer qualifies the available operators to make process control decisions for that system. When a different treatment technology is added [~~to~~] **THAT RESULTS IN A CHANGE OF THE SUBCLASSIFICATION OF** the system, the existing available operators may qualify for an accelerated certification upgrade if:

(1) The owner obtains the appropriate NPDES, public water supply or The Clean Streams Law permit from the Department. [~~with approval of the accelerated certification program.~~]

(2) The operator successfully completes an onsite, Department-approved training program from the manufacturer or consulting engineer on the proper operation and maintenance of the new treatment technology.

(3) The operator passes, **OR PREVIOUSLY PASSED**, the appropriate Part II Technology Specific examination for the new treatment technology. **ADDITIONAL EXPERIENCE IS NOT REQUIRED.**

(4) The manufacturer or consulting engineer provides the Board and the Department with written documentation that the available operators for the system have successfully completed the formalized startup training and assistance program and are competent in the operation of the treatment technology.

(c) The available operators of the system undergoing an upgrade may continue to make process control decisions for the system if the conditions for accelerated certification as defined in subsection (a) or (b) are met. If not, the owner of the system will find another available operator with the appropriate class and subclassifications to make process control decisions until the existing certified operators at the system meet the additional examination requirements defined in § 302.702 (relating to examination requirements) and any additional experience requirements defined in § 302.703 (relating to experience requirements).

Subchapter H. CONTINUING EDUCATION AND TRAINING

Sec.

302.801. Training and continuing education.

302.802. Continuing education requirements for certificate renewal.

302.803. Phased schedule for continuing education requirements.

302.804. System security training requirements.

§ 302.801. Training and continuing education.

(a) The Department will designate all approved training and continuing education into one of the following categories:

(1) Wastewater.

(2) Water.

(3) Bioperable.

(4) Security training as established in § 302.804 (relating to system security training requirements).

(b) The Department may approve, deny, suspend or revoke any training sponsor, training program, training course or conference session.

(c) The Department may audit, examine, inspect, and review the activities and documentation of approved training sponsors, training programs, approved instructors, courses, course content, conference sessions, teaching materials and facilities as related to water operator training and wastewater operator training and continuing education.

(d) The Department will develop training approval process guidelines that define the standards for the approval of training providers as training sponsors, training programs, instructors, courses and course content, conference sessions and other teaching materials and facilities used for the development and delivery of water and wastewater operator training and continuing education.

§ 302.802. Continuing education requirements for certificate renewal.

(a) Only contact hours for training approved by the Department will be used by a certified operator to meet the continuing education requirements for certificate renewal.

(b) A certified operator is required to successfully obtain the designated continuing education contact hours as defined in § 302.803 (relating to phased schedule for continuing education requirements) for certification renewal for the appropriate class.

(c) Bioperable operators will meet the continuing education requirements for each water and wastewater certificate held.

(d) A certified operator may not apply excess contact hours to a subsequent 3 year renewal cycle.

(e) For the purpose of meeting the continuing education requirement, the contact hours associated with a Department-approved course may only be applied once within an operator's 3 year renewal cycle.

(f) A Department-approved instructor holding an operator's certificate may be granted continuing education contact hours for teaching a Department-approved training course provided the instructor delivers the course within the instructor's 3 year renewal cycle and provides documentation to the Department that the course was completed, with the total amount of hours of training delivered. The contact hours for a specific course can be granted only once within the 3 year renewal cycle in which the course is taught.

(g) A certified operator is credited continuing education contact hours in the 3 year renewal cycle in which the training ~~[provider documents successful completion of the training.]~~ **WAS COMPLETED, AS DOCUMENTED BY THE TRAINING PROVIDER.**

(h) Certified operators that have successfully completed the Department's Drinking Water Corrosion Control Treatment Course or Bio-solids Management Course may be granted a one-time

credit for the contact hours for continuing education during the initial renewal cycle, regardless of the date of completion.

§ 302.803. Phased schedule for continuing education requirements.

(a) The number of required contact hours of continuing education for certificate renewal is as follows:

(1) Contact hour requirements for wastewater system certified operators.

Operator Class	Contact Hours for First 3 Year Renewal Cycle	Contact Hours for Subsequent 3 Year Renewal Cycle
A	15	30
B	15	30
C	15	30
D	8	15
E	8	15
Grandparented	8	15

(2) Contact hour requirements for water system certified operators.

Operator Class	Contact Hours for First 3 Year Renewal Cycle	Contact Hours for Subsequent 3 Year Renewal Cycle
A	15	30
B	15	30
C	15	30
D	8	15
E	8	15
Dc	4	9
Dn	3	6
Grandparented	8	15

(b) The first 3 year renewal cycle is defined as either the first 3 year period in which a certified operator holds a valid certificate after being transferred from an annual renewal cycle, or the first cycle after receiving certification.

(c) The subsequent 3 year renewal cycle is every 3 year period after the operator’s first three-year renewal cycle.

§ 302.804. System security training requirements.

(a) Every certified operator shall successfully complete a Department-approved system security training course.

(b) A certified operator shall meet the system security training requirement **[before the conclusion of the operator's first subsequent 3 year renewal period] IN THE CERTIFIED OPERATOR'S FIRST RENEWAL PERIOD COMMENCING ON OR** after _____ (*Editor's Note: The blank refers to the effective date of adoption of this proposed rulemaking*).

(c) A certified operator shall successfully demonstrate the knowledge, skills and abilities contained in the Department's system security training course using a Department-approved learning assessment method.

(d) The contact hours associated with the system security training also qualifies as approved continuing education within an operator's 3 year renewal cycle.

(e) A Department-approved training sponsor may, upon written agreement with the Department, deliver the Department's system security course that is approved to meet the requirements of this section.

(f) Bioperable operators need to successfully complete the Department-approved system security training course only once.

(g) The Department may require certified operators to attend and successfully complete additional Department-approved system security courses upon written notification **WHEN ANY OF THE FOLLOWING OCCUR:**

(1) THE OPERATOR FAILED THE DEPARTMENT-APPROVED SYSTEM SECURITY COURSE IN SUBSECTION (a).

(2) THERE IS A HISTORY OF SECURITY ISSUES AT A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM WHERE THE CERTIFIED OPERATORS WORK.

(3) THERE IS A HISTORY OF SECURITY ISSUES WITH THE CERTIFIED OPERATOR.

(4) NEW OR UPDATED SECURITY COURSES BECOME AVAILABLE.

(5) THE DEPARTMENT DETERMINES A SITUATION OR THREAT (FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL) EXISTS THAT REQUIRES ADDITIONAL SPECIFIC SECURITY COURSES.

Subchapter I. SYSTEM CLASSIFICATION AND SUBCLASSIFICATIONS

Sec.

302.901. Classification and subclassifications of water systems.

302.902. Classification and subclassifications of wastewater systems.

§302.901. Classification and subclassifications of water systems.

(a) Water systems will be classified into one of five classifications being designated as Classification A, B, C, D or E as follows:

(1) *Classification A.* Water systems serving an average of more than 5 million gallons a day.

(2) *Classification B.* Water systems serving an average of greater than 1 million gallons a day but less than or equal to 5 million gallons a day.

(3) *Classification C.* Water systems serving an average of greater than 100,000 gallons a day but less than or equal to 1 million gallons a day.

(4) *Classification D.* Water systems serving an average of less than or equal to 100,000 gallons a day.

(5) *Classification E.* Distribution and consecutive water systems, without treatment.

(b) Upon written request by the owner, the Department may reclassify a water system serving no more than 500 individuals or having no more than 150 connections, where the source of water for the system is exclusively groundwater, as a Dc **[or Dn]** water system. A water system that requires only disinfection will be classified as a Dc system, a water system that requires no treatment as a Dn system.

(c) Each water system Classification A, B and C must be assigned one or more of the following 14 treatment subclassifications that identifies the treatment methods used to process water at that system. Classifications D and E may have one or more of the following 14 treatment subclassifications if the system or operator uses the specified treatment methods to process drinking water at that system.

(1) Subclassification 1 – Conventional Filtration.

(2) Subclassification 2 – Direct Filtration.

(3) Subclassification 3 – Diatomaceous Earth Filtration.

(4) Subclassification 4 – Slow Sand Filtration.

- (5) Subclassification 5 – Cartridge or Bag Filtration.
- (6) Subclassification 6 – Membrane Filtration.
- (7) Subclassification 7 – Corrosion Control and Sequestering.
- (8) Subclassification 8 – Chemical Addition.
- (9) Subclassification 9 – Ion Exchange and Greensand.
- (10) Subclassification 10 – Aeration and Activated Carbon Adsorption.
- (11) Subclassification 11 – Gaseous Chlorine Disinfection.
- (12) Subclassification 12 – Nongaseous Chemical Disinfection.
- (13) Subclassification 13 – Ultraviolet Disinfection.
- (14) Subclassification 14 – Ozonation.

(d) Upon written notice provided to the owners and available operators of the system, the Department may change the classification or subclassification of a water system because of changes in the conditions or circumstances at the system, **INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO:**

(1) AN INCREASE IN CAPACITY THAT CHANGES THE CLASS OF THE SYSTEM.

(2) THE ADDITION OR LOSS OF A TREATMENT TECHNOLOGY.

(3) OTHER FEDERAL OR STATE REGULATORY CHANGES IN THE DEFINITION OF A TREATMENT TECHNOLOGY USED AT THE SYSTEM.

(4) THE ISSUANCE OF A PERMIT CHANGING THE CLASS OR SUBCLASSIFICATION OF A SYSTEM.

§ 302.902. Classifications and subclassifications of wastewater systems.

(a) Wastewater systems will be classified into one of five classifications being designated as Classification A, B, C, D or E as follows:

(1) *Classification A.* Wastewater systems with a permitted average daily discharge flow greater than 5 million gallons a day or unlimited permitted discharge flows.

(2) *Classification B.* Wastewater systems with a permitted average daily discharge flow greater than 1 million gallons per day but less than or equal to 5 million gallons a day.

(3) *Classification C.* Wastewater systems with a permitted average daily discharge flow greater than 100,000 gallons a day but less than or equal to 1 million gallons a day.

(4) *Classification D.* Wastewater systems with a permitted average daily discharge flow equal to or less than 100,000 gallons.

(5) *Classification E.* A wastewater satellite collection system with at least one pump station.

(b) Each wastewater system Classification A, B, C and D must be assigned one or more of 4 treatment subclassifications that identifies the treatment or collection methods, or both, used to process wastewater at that system:

(1) Subclassification 1 – Activated Sludge.

(2) Subclassification 2 – Fixed Film.

(3) Subclassification 3 – Treatment Ponds and Lagoons.

(4) Subclassification 4 – Single Entity Collection System[s.]

(c) Upon written notice provided to the owners and available operators of the system, the Department may change the classification or subclassification of a wastewater system because of changes in the conditions or circumstances at the system, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO:

(1) AN INCREASE IN CAPACITY THAT CHANGES THE CLASS OF THE SYSTEM.

(2) THE ADDITION OR LOSS OF A TREATMENT TECHNOLOGY.

(3) OTHER FEDERAL OR STATE REGULATORY CHANGES IN THE DEFINITION OF A TREATMENT TECHNOLOGY USED AT THE SYSTEM.

(4) THE ISSUANCE OF A PERMIT CHANGING THE CLASS OR SUBCLASSIFICATION OF A SYSTEM.

Subchapter J. OPERATOR CLASSES AND SUBCLASSIFICATIONS

Sec.

302.1001. General provisions.

302.1002. Certification classes and subclassifications of water system operators.

302.1003. Certification classes and subclassifications of wastewater system operators.

- 302.1004. Operator-in-training status.
- 302.1005. Grandparented operators.
- 302.1006. Laboratory supervisor certification.

§ 302.1001. General provisions.

(a) A certified operator may hold only one valid water certificate and one valid wastewater certificate. Each valid certificate may include one or more appropriate classes and subclassifications.

(b) A certified operator holding a valid Class A, B, C or D and the Class E water or wastewater certificate and all the water or wastewater treatment technology subclassifications, will be issued either a water or wastewater master certificate for that class.

§ 302.1002. Certification classes and subclassifications of water system operators.

(a) There are 7 water classes and 14 water treatment technology subclassifications that correspond to the water system classifications and treatment technology subclassifications defined in § 302.901 (relating to classification and subclassifications of water systems).

(b) To hold a valid Class A, B or C water certificate, the operator shall meet all the certification requirements set forth in § 302.~~103 (relating to scope)~~ **104(RELATING TO CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS)** for at least one water treatment technology subclassification defined in § 302.901 (relating to classification and subclassifications of water systems).

(c) To hold a valid Class D or E water certificate, the operator shall meet the certification requirements in § 302.~~103~~**104** but is not required to have a subclassification, unless the operator is involved in making process control decisions involving one of the subclassification treatment technologies defined in § 302.901.

(d) A Dc or Dn certificate is a stand-alone certificate and does not include any water treatment technology subclassifications.

(e) Water operators with a Class A, B, C or D water certificate that also make process control decisions in the distribution system shall also have the Class E certificate.

§ 302.1003. Certification classes and subclassifications of wastewater system operators.

(a) There are five wastewater classifications and four wastewater treatment technology subclassifications that correspond to the wastewater treatment system classifications and treatment technology subclassifications defined in § 302.902 (relating to classifications and subclassifications of wastewater systems).

(b) Certified wastewater operators holding an A, B, C or D classification will have at least one wastewater treatment technology subclassification.

(c) The Class E wastewater classification will be combined with Subclassification 4 as a stand alone certificate for operators of wastewater collection systems who meet the requirements for certification as defined in § 302.~~103 (relating to scope)~~ **104(RELATING TO CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS)**.

(d) Wastewater operators with a Class A, B, C or D wastewater certificate that also make process control decisions in the collection system shall also have the E4 certificate.

§ 302.1004. Operator-in-training status.

(a) The operator-in-training status shall apply to an individual passing the certification examinations who has not yet met the minimum education and experience requirements in § 302.701 and § 302.703 (relating to minimum education requirements; and experience requirements).

(b) An operator-in-training status is valid until the individual demonstrates the education and experience requirements as defined in § 302.701 and § 302.703 have been met and the Board issues a certificate.

(c) An individual with operator-in-training status will not independently make process control decisions or serve as the available operator for a water or wastewater system.

(d) An operator-in-training may concurrently hold a water and wastewater operator-in-training status.

§ 302.1005. Grandparented operators.

(a) This section applies to those operators of nontransient noncommunity water systems, satellite wastewater collection systems containing a pump stations or single entity wastewater collection systems who were granted a grandparented certificate by the Board.

(b) Grandparented certificates are site, size and technology specific and not transferable to any other water or wastewater system.

(c) A grandparented certificate is temporary and will expire within 3 years of the date of issuance. A certified operator who was grandparented shall meet the conditions for certification renewal including the submittal of an application for certification action for renewal defined in § 302.201 (relating to form of application) and completion of the continuing education requirements defined in § 302.802 (relating to continuing education requirements for certificate renewal).

(d) The grandparented certificate is no longer valid if one of the following applies:

(1) The certified operator moves to another water or wastewater system.

(2) The system subclassification changes because of a modification or addition, or both, of treatment technology.

(3) There are violations attributed to the operator that threaten the public health, the environment and public safety.

(e) If a grandparented certificate is no longer valid, the operator shall meet all the requirements for certification as identified in § 302.~~103 (relating to scope)~~**104(RELATINGS TO CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS)**.

§ 302.1006. Laboratory supervisor certification.

(a) There will be a laboratory supervisor subclassification (15) for individuals responsible for the supervision of testing or analysis of environmental samples and reporting of analytical data for water supply systems in a Pennsylvania-accredited environmental laboratory operated by a water system.

(b) There will be a laboratory supervisor subclassification (5) for individuals responsible for supervision of the testing or analysis of environmental samples and reporting of analytical data for wastewater systems in a Pennsylvania-accredited environmental laboratory operated by a wastewater or industrial waste system.

(c) A certified operator, including those holding a master certificate, will not be qualified by the Department for a laboratory supervisor certificate without meeting the requirements in this section.

(d) Laboratory supervisor certification is not required to qualify for a master certificate in water or wastewater.

(e) An applicant for laboratory supervisor's certification for drinking water or wastewater shall have 2 years of experience in the testing and analysis of environmental samples for water or wastewater systems.

(f) An applicant for laboratory supervisor's certification for drinking water or wastewater systems shall hold a valid operator's certificate and demonstrate the knowledge, skills and abilities needed to be a laboratory supervisor by obtaining a passing score on either the Part II Laboratory Supervisor for Water Systems or Part II Laboratory Supervisor for Wastewater Systems examination.

(g) IN ACCORDANCE WITH CHAPTER 252.302(h)(3) (RELATING TO THE QUALIFICATIONS OF THE LABORATORY SUPERVISOR), CERTIFIED OPERATORS WHO ARE SERVING AS THE LABORATORY SUPERVISOR FOR A

DRINKING WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM ON **(EDITOR'S**
NOTE: THE BLANK REFERS TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF ADOPTION OF THIS
PROPOSED RULEMAKING) WILL HAVE TWELVE MONTHS AFTER THE BOARD
MAKES THE WATER OR WASTEWATER LABORATORY SUBCLASSIFICATION
EXAMINATION AVAILABLE TO MEET THE STANDARDS FOR CERTIFICATION AS
DEFINED IN THIS SECTION.

(h) CERTIFIED OPERATORS WHO MEET THE OTHER QUALIFICATIONS
DEFINED IN CHAPTER 252.302 OR 252.303 (RELATED TO GRANDFATHERING
PROVISIONS FOR LABORATORY SUPERVISORS) DO NOT NEED TO OBTAIN THE
LABORATORY SUPERVISOR CERTIFICATION IN ORDER TO CONTINUE SERVING
AS A LABORATORY SUPERVISOR FOR A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYTEM.

Subchapter K. PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS

Sec.

302.1101. General provisions.

302.1102. Issuance of initial certification for a professional engineer.

302.1103. Experience requirements for professional engineers.

§ 302.1101. General provisions.

(a) This subchapter applies to a professional engineer registered under the Engineer, Land Surveyor and Geologist Registration Law (63 P. S. §§ 148 – 158.2) who has been successfully examined in civil, environmental or sanitary engineering and is a certified operator, or an applicant for operator certification.

(b) A professional engineer applying for certification action shall meet the same requirements as provided for by the act, this part, and other ~~[Department rules and regulations related to the operation of water and wastewater systems]~~ **PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO THE PROPER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM PURSUANT TO THE CLEAN STREAMS LAW (35 P.S. §§691.1 – 691.1001), SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (5 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17) AND THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT (35 P.S. §§6018.1 – 6018.101) AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER** except for those provided for in this subchapter.

§ 302.1102. Issuance of initial certification for a professional engineer.

A professional engineer shall submit an application for certification action in accordance with § 302.201 (relating to form of application). The engineer shall also meet the requirements for certification in § 302. ~~[103 (relating to scope)]~~ **104(RELATING TO CERTIFICATION**

REQUIREMENTS). When requesting a certificate under this subchapter, the applicant shall provide **A COPY OF OR OTHER** written proof of a valid professional engineer's license.

§ 302.1103. Experience requirements for professional engineers.

In addition to those activities defined in § 302.704 (relating to determining qualifying experience), other activities specifically associated with the responsibilities and duties of a professional engineer may be eligible as qualifying experience for an applicant. These activities include the following:

- (1) Plant start-up activities.
- (2) Development of standard operating procedures.
- (3) An operation and maintenance plan or an emergency response plan for a water or wastewater system.
- (4) Consulting activities associated with water or wastewater system operations.
- (5) Activities associated with testing pilot technology.
- (6) Activities related to operational inspections completed by a professional engineer.

Subchapter L. SYSTEM OPERATION

Sec.

- § 302.1201. Duties of operators.
- § 302.1202. Duties of owners.
- § 302.1203. Process control decisions.
- § 302.1204. Standard operating procedures.
- § 302.1205. Number of required certified operators.
- § 302.1206. Operator in responsible charge.
- § 302.1207. Operation of multiple treatment systems (Circuit Rider).
- § 302.1208. Programmable logic controls (PLCs) and supervisory control and data acquisition systems (SCADA).
- § 302.1209. ~~[Satellite collection systems.]~~ **ASSESSMENT OF FINES AND PENALTIES.**

§ 302.1201. Duties of operators.

(a) A certified operator shall comply with ~~[applicable Federal and State laws, the act, this part, and other Department rules and regulations related to the operation of water and wastewater systems]~~ **PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO THE PROPER OPERATION AND**

MAINTENANCE OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM PURSUANT TO THE CLEAN STREAMS LAW (35 P.S. §§691.1 – 691.1001), SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (5 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17) AND THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT (35 P.S. §§6018.1 – 6018.101) AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER to protect the environment and public health and safety. A certified operator shall provide for the suitable operation and maintenance of a water or wastewater system utilizing available resources needed to comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations and permit conditions or requirements. The Department will ~~recognize the ability of the certified operator to meet these requirements is in part dependent upon the available resources and responsibilities assigned by the system owner.~~ **CONSIDER OWNER-PROVIDED RESOURCES WHEN DECIDING IF A CERTIFIED OPERATOR IS IN COMPLIANCE.**

(b) Available operator tasks necessary to control the operation and provide for the maintenance of a water or wastewater system may include:

- (1) Controlling the selection of, or flow from, an existing permitted source to a water system.
- (2) Controlling the selection of flow to a water distribution system.
- (3) Controlling the flow from a wastewater system to the waters of this Commonwealth as defined in the NPDES or The Clean Streams Law permit for the system.
- (4) Controlling the processing of raw, treated or finished water or wastewater.
- (5) Preparing and controlling chemical or biological, or both, addition for water or wastewater treatment.
- (6) Observing and taking the necessary actions in response to variations in operating conditions.
- (7) Adjusting system processes based on monitoring data.
- (8) Performing calculations for process control.
- (9) Operating valves or gates, or both, either manually or by remote control.
- (10) Starting or stopping pumps or increasing or decreasing pump rates.
- (11) Providing for proper source water protection.
- (12) Directing the actions of certified and noncertified operators.
- (13) Taking an action to maintain a system's equipment to prevent pollution or a permit violation.
- (14) Overseeing or performing the collection, analysis and interpretation of all process control and ~~self-~~ **COMPLIANCE** monitoring samples of the water or wastewater systems.

(15) Preparing, **REVIEWING** and submitting applicable **NOTICES AND** reports to the appropriate persons or agencies.

(16) Developing, approving or using a process control plan that is specific to the treatment needs and conditions of the system.

(c) Certified operators shall submit a [~~written~~] report to the system owner documenting any known violations or system conditions that may **BE** [~~potentially cause~~] or are causing violations of any Department regulation or permit conditions or requirements. [~~This written report shall be sent to the owner by registered mail with a return receipt requested, by hand carrying the report to the owner and receiving a signed receipt, or by any mail service with a receipt requested.~~] **WHEN SUBMITTED, [The] THE** report must include the following:

(1) The name of the certified operator filing the report.

(2) The date.

(3) The nature of the violation or system conditions.

(4) The suspected cause of the violation or system conditions, including the lack of needed resources.

(5) The degree of severity or threat to public health, safety or the environment of the violation or system conditions.

(6) Any actions or mitigating measures associated with process control necessary to prevent or eliminate a violation of [~~applicable water or wastewater system laws, rules and regulations and permit conditions and requirements.~~] **PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO THE PROPER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM PURSUANT TO THE CLEAN STREAMS LAW (35 P.S. §§691.1 – 691.1001), SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (5 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17) AND THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT (35 P.S. §§6018.1 – 6018.101) AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.**

(d) The available operators making process control decisions are responsible for those decisions and consequences, unless the owner fails to respond to a written report as required in subsection (c) or there is a deliberate action with malice or negligence on the part of an employee under the supervision of the available operator.

§ 302.1202. Duties of owners.

(a) An owner of a water or wastewater system shall:

(1) Comply with the ~~[applicable Federal and State laws.]~~ **PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO THE PROPER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM PURSUANT TO THE CLEAN STREAMS LAW (35 P.S. §§691.1 – 691.1001), SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (5 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17) AND THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT (35 P.S. §§6018.1 – 6018.101)AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.**

~~[(2) Comply with the rules and regulations and permits associated with a water or wastewater system to protect the environment, public health and safety.]~~

~~[(3)](2)~~ Insure all process control decisions at the systems are made by available operators with a valid operator's certificate with the appropriate classes and subclassifications.

~~[(4)](3)~~ Post the names of the available operators in the treatment area of the system, including the method of contacting them if they are not onsite.

~~[(5)](4)~~ Take appropriate action in a timely manner to written reports required under § 302.1201(c) (relating to duties of operators) from certified operators and make a "good faith" effort to address problems and concerns identified in these reports.

~~[(6)](5)~~ Provide a copy of all current, relevant water and wastewater permits to all available operators.

(b) ~~[On an annual basis,]~~ **UPON WRITTEN REQUEST,** a system owner shall report to the Department:

(1) The system name, address, phone number and e-mail address (if available).

(2) The name and title of the system representative providing the information.

(3) The system owner name, address, phone number and e-mail address (if available).

(4) The Public Water System Identification number, NPDES permit numbers or Water Quality Management Part II permit numbers for the system.

(5) The name, client ID, address, phone number and email (if available) of all available operators employed by the owner at the system and the operators' classes and subclassifications.

(6) The designation of an operator in responsible charge if the owner chooses to develop and utilize standard operating procedures.

(c) A system owner shall notify the Department in writing within 10 calendar days of the addition, loss, change or replacement of an available operator. The owner shall provide at that time the name, client ID, and class and subclassification of all operator changes.

(d) Upon written request from an owner, the Department will provide current water and wastewater permits to the operator in responsible charge designated by the owner.

§ 302.1203. Process control decisions.

(a) An available operator shall make all process control decisions. These decisions may be made onsite, from a remote site, by the use of standard operating procedures approved by the operator in responsible charge, or by using a programmable logic control (PLC) system as provided by § 302.1208 (relating to programmable logic controls (PLCs) and supervisory control and data acquisition systems (SCADA)).

(b) A certified operator can make process control decisions for systems with a smaller hydraulic design capacity, provided they are certified with the appropriate treatment technology-based subclassifications.

(c) The Department may require a system to have a process control plan that includes, as necessary, the following:

- (1) A flow diagram of the entire treatment process.
- (2) The identification of individual treatment units by type.
- (3) A description of the treatment process provided by each treatment unit.
- (4) The anticipated level of treatment provided by each treatment unit.
- (5) The normal influent and effluent operating ranges for each wastewater or water treatment unit.
- (6) A description of the average and seasonal characteristics of the raw water or wastewater influent.
- (7) Any standard operating procedures.
- (8) The methods to be utilized to monitor and adjust treatment processes
- (9) The identification of the key processes and equipment associated with these processes.
- (10) An outline of how key processes and equipment will be monitored if the system is without staff during daily operations.
- (11) The trigger parameters for each unit that requires a process control decision.
- (12) A preventive and emergency maintenance plan for all process control-related equipment including a replacement parts inventory and emergency repair method.

(13) The procedures for emergency operations when security has been breached or natural disasters threaten public safety, the environment and property.

(14) The wastewater treatment methods and strategies to assure proper treatment during wet weather operations.

(15) A plan for wasting, treating and disposing of solids associated with wastewater treatment.

(d) Plans required under other Department rules and regulations applicable to the operation of a drinking water or wastewater system may satisfy the requirement for a process control plan as determined by the Department.

~~**[(e) The Department taking an action necessary to protect the environment and public health during designated emergency situations, to obtain compliance with permit requirements, and rules and regulations or to address permit requests and compliance issues is not considered a process control decision. Other actions not considered to be a process control decision include actions taken by:**~~

~~**(1) Local government to approve new residential, industrial or commercial land development creating additional treatment, collection or distribution demands upon a system or to comply with a pretreatment program.**~~

~~**(2) Emergency personnel to protect property and lives.]**~~

§ 302.1204. Standard operating procedures.

(a) Standard operating procedures are written documents outlining the actions necessary to make process control decisions given established operational quantitative and qualitative parameters for the system or treatment units within the system.

(b) Standard operating procedures must:

(1) Include the name of the operator in responsible charge.

(2) Identify the operators that may utilize the standard operating procedures to make process control decisions.

(3) ~~**[Include the] STATE WHICH**~~ treatment processes ~~**ARE**~~ covered by the standard operating procedures~~**;**~~ ~~**and the] FOR**~~ treatment process that are not covered ~~**BY THE STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURES,**~~ ~~**[and require the operator to contact the operator in responsible charge for a decision on the appropriate process]**~~ ~~**THE OPERATOR MUST BE INSTRUCTED TO CONTACT THE OPERATOR IN RESPONSIBLE CHARGE TO MAKE ANY NECESSARY PROCESS CONTROL DECISIONS.**~~

(4) Identify the trigger parameters for the treatment processes and the appropriate actions to be taken for each treatment process.

(c) Standard operating procedures shall be approved in writing and dated by the operators in responsible charge, and available at the system for review.

(d) The use of standard operating procedures is an optional method, available to the operator in responsible charge, to allow operators under the operator in responsible charge's direct supervision to implement process control decisions. The decision to use standard operating procedures depends on the complexity and personnel of the system.

(e) An operator in responsible charge using standard operating procedures shall notify the system owner that these standard operating procedures are in use.

(f) The Department may request a copy of a system's standard operating procedures to determine the use of the procedures by the operators or the effectiveness of the procedures to insure compliance with ~~[appropriate permits, rules and regulations and laws.]~~ **PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO THE PROPER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM PURSUANT TO THE CLEAN STREAMS LAW (35 P.S. §§691.1 – 691.1001), SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (5 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17) AND THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT (35 P.S. §§6018.1 – 6018.101) AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER**

(g) Standard operating procedures may be in an electronic form to facilitate searching for, and retrieval of, information by an operator. These standard operating procedures must be in an electronic form that cannot be changed without evidence of tampering. The standard operating procedures must also indicate where the original signed paper copy or copies are maintained and the name of the operator in responsible charge who signed them. The content of the electronic version of the standard operating procedures must be identical to the current signed paper standard operating procedures. If differences are found between the electronic form and the original signed paper copy of the standard operating procedures, the original signed paper copy will be considered the official version of the standard operating procedures.

§ 302.1205. Number of required certified operators.

A system shall have the number of available operators necessary to comply with ~~[Federal and State laws, and rules and regulations associated with water or wastewater systems]~~ **PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO THE PROPER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM PURSUANT TO THE CLEAN STREAMS LAW (35 P.S. §§691.1 – 691.1001), SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (5 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17) AND THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT (35 P.S. §§6018.1 – 6018.101) AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER** to protect the environment and public health and safety.

§ 302.1206. Operator in responsible charge.

(a) **UPON REQUEST OF THE DEPARTMENT**, A system owner shall provide ~~[to the Department on an annual basis]~~ the name, client ID, and certificate number of any operators in responsible charge. The system owner shall notify the Department of changes in the operators in responsible charge within 10 days of the change. System owners shall notify the operators in responsible charge of this designation in writing.

(b) An operator in responsible charge shall hold a valid certificate with the classes and subclassifications as defined in § 302.1002 and § 302.1003 (relating to certification classes and subclassifications of water system operators; and certification classes and subclassifications of wastewater system operators) that correspond to the system's classification and subclassification as defined in § 302.901 and § 302.902 (relating to classification and subclassifications of water systems; and classification and subclassifications of wastewater systems).

(c) A grandparented operator can be designated as the operator in responsible charge.

(d) The ~~[duties]~~ **DUTY** of the operator in responsible charge will ~~[include:]~~ **BE TO APPROVE ANY STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURES DEVELOPED FOR THE SYSTEM.**

~~**(1) The approval of any standard operating procedures.**~~

~~**(2) The development of a process control plan when requested by the Department.**~~

(e) The operator in responsible charge, who is the approving authority for the standard operating procedures for a system, is accountable for any ~~[permit violations or]~~ violations of ~~[any applicable rules and regulations]~~ **PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO THE PROPER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM PURSUANT TO THE CLEAN STREAMS LAW (35 P.S. §§691.1 – 691.1001), SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (5 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17) AND THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT (35 P.S. §§6018.1 – 6018.101)AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER** which may occur when an operator follows these standard operating procedures.

§ 302.1207. Operation of multiple treatment systems.

(a) An available operator may make process control decisions at more than one system. **THIS** circuit rider shall meet all the requirements of the act, this part, and other ~~[Department rules and regulations related to the operation of a water or wastewater system.]~~**PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO THE PROPER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM PURSUANT TO THE CLEAN STREAMS LAW (35 P.S. §§691.1 – 691.1001), SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (5 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17) AND THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT (35 P.S. §§6018.1 – 6018.101)AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.**

(b) An owner may use the services of a circuit rider to meet the requirements of the act, this part, and other ~~Department rules and regulations related to the operation of a water or wastewater system.~~ **PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO THE PROPER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM PURSUANT TO THE CLEAN STREAMS LAW (35 P.S. §§691.1 – 691.1001), SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (5 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17) AND THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT (35 P.S. §§6018.1 – 6018.101) AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.**

(c) A system owner shall notify the Department within 10 days when a circuit rider is employed to operate the system.

(d) A circuit rider shall develop and submit a general work plan to the owner of each system that includes:

- (1) The name and location of the circuit rider's primary business.
- (2) The name and location of each system to be included in the circuit rider program.
- (3) The classification and subclassification of each system included in the circuit rider program.
- (4) The number of hours per week the circuit rider works at each system, with the method of documentation to be used for each visit.

(e) A circuit rider shall develop and submit a system specific management plan to the owner of each system describing the information relevant to the owner's system. This management plan must include:

- (1) The names and contact information of the available operators for that system, with a copy of the operators' certificate to be prominently displayed at the system.
- (2) The standard operating procedures and a process control plan for the system.
- (3) The name and method of contacting the circuit rider in case of an emergency.
- (4) An estimate of the response time necessary to be physically present at the system.

(f) An available operator may not make process control decisions at more than one system until the owner has **approved** **PROVIDED APPROVAL THROUGH SIGNATURE FOR** the specific management plan for the system.

(g) The general work plan and the system specific management plans developed for a circuit rider program shall be made available to the Department upon request.

(h) The circuit rider shall report any changes to the general work plan and provide appropriate documentation within 10 days to the owners of all the participating systems.

(i) The circuit rider shall report changes to the system specific management plan and provide appropriate documentation within 10 days to the specific owner of the system identified in the management plan.

(j) The Department may require the circuit rider to be present at a system for the purposes of Department inspection or investigation.

(k) The Department may direct an owner or available operator to cease participation in a circuit rider program if one of the following applies:

(1) The system is in violation for failure to meet the requirements of the act, this part, or other **[Department rules and regulations related to the operation of a water or wastewater system.]PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO THE PROPER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF A WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEM PURSUANT TO THE CLEAN STREAMS LAW (35 P.S. §§691.1 – 691.1001), SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (5 P.S. §§721.1 – 721.17) AND THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT (35 P.S. §§6018.1 – 6018.101)AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.**

(2) There is a threat to public health, safety and the environment **DUE TO THE ACTIONS OF THE CIRCUIT RIDER.**

(3) Changes have occurred at the system that are not included in the system specific management plan.

§ 302.1208. Programmable logic controls (PLCs) and supervisory control and data acquisition systems (SCADA).

(a) An owner may use a PLC and SCADA system to monitor, maintain or make decisions regarding any process control activity within the water or wastewater system.

(b) A system shall have an available operator to interface with the PLC or SCADA system. The available operator will approve the operational strategy for the PLC and SCADA.

(c) A system utilizing PLC and SCADA systems shall have a backup emergency plan for making process control decisions when, or if, the PLC and SCADA system is inoperable.

(d) If an owner wants to have a PLC and SCADA system oversee more than one water or wastewater system simultaneously, the system specific management plan developed under § 302.1207 (relating to the operation of multiple treatment systems) must also identify and demonstrate how process control decisions not performed by the PLC and SCADA system will be made and demonstrate how continual staffing and monitoring of systems controlled by a PLC and SCADA system will be maintained.

[§ 302.1209. Satellite collection systems:

A satellite collection system shall be required to retain the services of a Class E4 certified operator when:

(1) The satellite collection system is publicly owned.

(2) It is determined by the Department that a privately owned satellite collection system has in the past, or is not currently properly operated and/or properly maintained, or both; or has in the past, or is currently, experiencing sanitary sewer overflows within any portion of the satellite collection system.

(3) The owner of a privately owned satellite collection system can petition the Department after demonstrating a period of compliance to have the requirement for a certified operator removed.]

§ 302.1209. ASSESSMENT OF FINES AND PENALTIES.

THE ASSESSMENT OF A CIVIL PENALTY PURSUANT TO SECTION 14(c) OF THE ACT SHALL BE BASED ON THE PERSON'S FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH AN ORDER OF THE DEPARTMENT.